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GREAT BRADLEY HALL 

Of all the houses in a village the one of the greatest significance is, and undoubtedly 
always was, that owned by the Lord of the Manor, and Great Bradley Hall is no 
exception. The present house is stated in Pevsner's "Suffolk (Buildings of England)" as 
being 17th century; it is certainly late 17th or early 18th. In about 1877, the Hall had a 
drawing room, two bedrooms and a dressing room added which, again, Pevsner 
described as "good 19th century", but there were quite possibly early I9th century 
alterations made as well. 

The Victorian addition to the house is easy to observe from the road, for it is the wing 
which faces the drive and which is built at right angles to the remainder of the house. It 
has a Burwell brick chimney as opposed to the red brick chimneys of the original part, 
and its architecture is very similar to that of the Old Rectory. In other words, the original 
part of the house was one rectangular building, with the main entrance to it being half 
way along the complete structure on the west side, the house being of room-width depth. 
A dairy also existed in earlier days at right angles to the main structure of the house. 

The Jacobean quarters at the rear of the house are spacious, light and airy, and the 
present dairy, which is large and pleasant, is complete with marble slab; here butter was 
made and stored until the early 1950's. A pane of glass in one of the scullery windows 
has remained intact and has scratched upon it 

E . I .S . 1805 and Emma Tillet, 
Eliza Swann , 
Martha Sumpter 

All at Great Bradley Hall Suffolk 1877 
(Those were obviously servants at the Hall in those days). 

From the kitchen quarters there were two staircases, one of which has now been 
blocked in. There are cellars underneath and attics above extending the whole length of 
the roof space. There is a spring under the kitchen window the water from which runs 
down into a pond in the garden. 

The interior of the house is beautifully maintained, whilst the additions and alterations 
which have taken place over the years have been sympathetically constructed and have 
contributed a charm all their own to the earlier manor house. 

It is the grounds and outbuildings of Great Bradley Hall, which are particularly exciting for 
here one is able to contemplate how the manor may once have been. It is possible that 
the original house stood on a higher piece of ground, which adjoins the land at the rear 
of the churchyard within the moat. Parts of the moat surrounding the earlier manor can 
be clearly seen on the south side of the churchyard, for they are wide and deep. It would 
be very odd, if in keeping with all medieval manors, there were not cottages clustered 
around the house and the church, but evidence for these has not been discovered. 
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The part timbered, part brick barn, which runs along the west boundary of the 
churchyard, is magnificent in its proportions. The timbered section is said to be late 17th 
century and has recently been cleared inside to reveal massive oak timbers of great 
height and length. The pitch of part of the roof clearly indicates that it was designed to 
take a thatch. On the adjoining brick section the words "Wright 1821" are carved on one 
of the interior beams. The whole area of the barn makes one enormously long, high 
building which is unique in the area. Indeed, this perfectly preserved building must be a 
showpiece. 

Some years ago, a Roman coin, which was identified as that of Constantine, was 
discovered on the land belonging to the Hall. A brief summary of this period is described 
by Cootes and Snellgrove in "The Ancient World" as follows: -

"Order was restored by Constantine (307-337) who was proclaimed emperor by his 
soldiers at York in Britain. Realising Rome was too far away from the threatened 
frontiers, Constantine transferred the capital to Byzantium; which he renamed 
Constantinople (330). The West had its own governor; and later its own emperor. 
Although Constantine did not intend to split the Empire, from then on Italy and the 
western provinces were seriously threatened. Christianity made slow progress in Britain 
until the early fourth century. Then, under the protection of the emperor Constantine it 
ca-me out into the open. Even so, it is likely that the number of Christians in the province 
was small and that most of them were poor. Because of this, very few traces of Christian 
worship have been found among Roman remains in Britain of the e third century Britain 
began to be threatened by sea raids from Saxons". (Little Bradley Church is of Saxon 
origin, thought to be 10 t h Century). 

As Roman remains have been discovered in Great Thurlow, and there is a Roman Road 
between Horseheath and Withersfield, leading from Cambridge to Colchester (The 
Roman Road), it is not unlikely that the Romans were in Great Bradley, although further 
evidence of this has still to be revealed. 

In all Kelly's directories of the last and present century Great Bradley Hall is described as 
being "anciently held by the Somerie family, barons Dudley". "Yeoman" in "Pocket 
Histories of Suffolk Parishes" explains the detailed history of ownership as follows: -

" When the third Henry was on the throne the manor of Great Bradley seems to have 
been held by the well-known family ofBigod, but shortly afterwards it was owned by Sir 
Hugh do Lopham, who in 1305 granted the manor, with the advowson of the church, to 
Sir John de Cotecourt, and Matilda, his wife. 

Sir John was a person of some importance in the land. Amongst the high offices he held 
being the Governorship of St. BriaveTs Castle in Gloucestershire, whilst he was an 
Admiral of the King's Fleet and was summoned to Parliament as a baron. 
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He was succeeded by his grandson of the same Christian name and this John also played a 
prominent part in affairs of consequence, both as a soldier and as a politician, fighting in the 
French wars and sitting in Parliament for some 43 years'. Through the marriage of his 
granddaughter, Joyce, to Sir Hugh Burnell, the manor went to the latter, but there was no issue, 
and for some years it is doubtful who actually held them. Eventually, however, we find it in the 
hands of Bartholomew Brokesby, whose death occurred in 1524 and following various changes, it 
came to Thomas Brand in the middle of the 18th century. 

In 1771, Thomas Brand married the Hon. Gertrude Roper, sister of the eighteenth Lord Dacre, 
and the manor passed to their son, the twentieth Lord. He chose for wife a daughter of Admiral 
Sir Charles Ogle, but, dying without issue, his brother succeeded. This brother, who, of course, 
was the twenty-first Lord Dacre, had fought well and bravely in the Peninsular War, and in 1824 
assumed the surname of Trevor. His death occurred in I853 upon which his eldest son inherited, 
and, he dying in 1890, was followed by his brother. Henry Bouerie William Trevor. 

The latter had carved for himself a political career of considerable merit, as for some twelve years 
he filled the high office of Speaker, whilst he became a Privy Councillor, and in 1834 was created 
Viscount Harrpden, It was only for a very short time that<he enjoyed his new inheritance, as he 
died in 1892, when the estate passed to his eldest son» a Captain in the Coldstream Guards 
who, however, followed in his father's footsteps to a certain degree, entering Parliament, first of 
all for Hertfordshire, and later for the Stroud Division of Gloucester" 

The following table hopefully makes the possession clearer-

Lord of the Manor Tennant 

1216-1272 Bigod 

Sir Hugh de Lopharn 

1305 Sir John de Cotecourt 

Sir Hugh Burnell Unknown 

By 1524 Bartholomew Brokesby 

By 1709 Charles Fox (according to Church records) 

By 1750 Thomas Brand 

1771 Lord Dacre 

1842 ditto .William Nice 

1844 ditto Daniel Kent Long 

1884 Viscount Hampden ditto 

1892 Rt. Hon. Thomas Walter, Viscount Hampden ditto 

1919 Charles Foster Ryder Henry AlfredSaltmarsh 

1937 Robert Custerson 

1951 Richard Stephen Ryder (occupier) 
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The Lord of the Manor and St. John's College, Cambridge, have always been the 
principal landowners in the village. It is said that, at the turn of the century, the most 
marvelous sight of all was to see as many as 28 pairs of horses leaving from the Hall in 
the early morning to plough the fields. In 1935 there were 2 cowmen and 2 horsemen, 
with 14 horses, all Suffolk Punches. During the Second World War, three landgirls were 
employed at the Hall farm when it was mixed arable farming with a predominance of 
Brussel sprouts. There was a large dairy herd at this time, and stables and bullock yards 
existed where the pig farm is now, whilst some tractors were also used. 

When Mr. R .S . Ryder first lived dt the Hall in 1951, there were about 20 men and boys 
employed on the farm (most, but not all, men living in the village were still employed in 
agriculture at this time), but the number of cart horses by then was reduced to two, for 
tractors had finally come into their own. An Ayrshire herd of dairy cattle was started 
which lasted for about 13 years, together with a small herd of pigs, and there was a flock 
of breeding ewes. The crops were sugar beet, potatoes, corn and beans. Over the years 
the pig farming has extended until today there are 4,000 pigs. Crops grown are wheat, 
barley, oil seed rape and field beans. 

PARISH R E G I S T E R S OF GREAT BRADLEY 

The earliest register of the parish dates from 1703 for Baptisms, Marriages and Burials, 
although "West Suffolk Illustrated" which was published in 1907, records that register's 
date from 1560. The present whereabouts of the earlier registers is unknown. 

However, from the register beginning at 1703, we learn of the population of the parish is 
as follows [I have followed the original text as closely as possible, although any words in 
brackets or underlined are my own]: -

1. "The number of Souls in Great Bradley 

Xmas 1733 June 1755 January 1 s t 1785 

On East Green 74 84 119 

On Long Acre Green 30 30 46 

On Over Green (Could this be Evergreen?) 35 28 20 

In the Duddery (near the present post box) 4 59 166* 

In the Town End 78 72** 

Total 221 273 351 

Increasing last 32 years - 78 souls" *Duddery & Town End ** Town End and Hall 
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2. The following are also extracts from the same register; (included are those areas 
which are still familiar or are of interest to us today): - "A true Terrier (record) of the 
Glebe as it was exhibited at the Primary Visitation of the Rt. Revd. Father in God Charles 
Lord Bishop of Norwich the 20th of July 1709. 

Item: 8 acres 1 Rood of Arable lying in the Common Field called Grove field 
parted by a Highway Butting Eastward on the land of St. John's College, and Mr. Fox's 
Westward on the Highway that leads to Burrough Green, on the South partly on a point 
of the Glebe and partly on Mr. Fox's land £8.l0s.0d 

Item. 2 Acres of Arable in the Common field called Waterfield Cutting Northward 
on a Grove called Ravenshold (now known as Raven's Hall) towards the South on a 
Brook running through the same Common field, Westward on St. John's College, and on 
the other part on Mr. Fox's. £2.0s.0d 

Item 5 Acres and 25 P of Pasture enclosed and call'd by the name of the 
Hopground butting Westward on the highway that leads to Thurlow £5.0s.0d 

Item 3 R lying in the bottom of the Common field called Millfield, cutting Eastward 
on the Lands of Mr. Stephen Fox, and on all other parts on the Lands of the Above-
mentioned Charles Fox Esqr. Lord of the Manor of Great Bradley" 

3. "Ashes (ash trees) Transplanted into the Hopground by William Nash, Rector 
Nov. 11th 1751 57 ) 
Nov. 28th 1752 57 ) About the Homestall 
Nov. 14th 1755 47 ) 

161 To t " 

4. Church goods purchased 1729 - 1766 

"One Silver flaggon guilt weighing 24 ounces 
One Chalice weighing 7 ounces 
One Silver plate weighing 5 ounces 
Cnc Carpet for the Communion table of Green Cloth 
One pulpit cloth and Cushion of purple 
One fine dinner Cloth and Napkin for the Communion Table 
One large Surplice of Holland with a Silk hood 
One black Burying Cloth 
2 Common Prayer books 
One large bible of the last Translation (this item has been deleted) 
The Book of Homilies 
3 Bells with their frames the least that do weigh about 
6 Hundred, the 2nd 9 Hundred, the Biggest 12 hundred " 
"One large Bible of the latest and best Edition with One new Communion Prayer book were 
bought April 20 1729 by Ralph Westley ) Church 

William Linton ) Wardens 
Willaim Nash Rector" 
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"New Common Prayer Book 
Hood Linen 1766" 
"A New Hood bought Easter 1738 William Wheeler 
A New Common prayer Book 1743 Jeffrey Hammond Church Wardens" 
5. "Tha Dispute of the Land call'd Bacon Ditch betwixt Great Bradley & Little Thurlow. Mr. Nash 
left it as he found it never received any Tithe from it, tho' he had great Reason to think he had the 
Right, but is to commence a Law Suit." 
In a later Register, dated 1786-1862, we are given the following information: 

(1) 1811 1821 1831 

Inhabited Houses 55 89 98 

By how many families occupied 70 97 101 

Houses now building 00 1 00 

Uninhabited 00 00 00 

Families chiefly employed in agriculture 55 87 84 

Families mainly employed in Trade, Manufacture and Handicrafts 15 10 17 

Males 205 243 266 

Females 207 244 261 

Total of Persons 412 487 527 

These three schedules are signed as follows: -
For 1811 by Thos. Easle & Philip Danby 
For 1821 by Wm B Nice and Philip Danby 
For 1831 by Hanslip Nice and Philip Danby 
(2) Houses occupied by two families each 
At East Green One by 

One by 
One by 
One by 
One by 
One by 

Below Bradley Hill One by 
At Over Green One by 
In the Duddery One by 

One by 
Town End One by 

One by 
One by 
One by 
One by 
One by 
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EAST G R E E N 

Most people know that St. John's College, Cambridge, owns land in Great Bradley but the 
question of how this came about has frequently arisen. The records of the College reveal the 
following story.A monastic hospital of St. John the Evangelist was founded on the site of St. 
John's College, Cambridge c. 1208, for the poor and infirm but not for lepers. 

The Lady Margaret Beaufort, having founded Christ's College and having endowed a chair of 
Divinity, was intent on endowing further Westminster Abbey. John Fisher, bishop of Rochester 
and Lady Margaret's confessor, persuaded the countess to invest her money in another 
Cambridge college instead. On her death in 1509, however, nothing was said in her will about this 
and Fisher had to prove that she had 'made and declared her said will often and many times by 
the mouth' to convert St. John's Hospital into a College of which she would be 'chief foundress 
and patroness'. The remaining monks of the hospital were then duly evicted, and on 9 April 
"1511, the new college was .born, replacing the hospital. As East Green Farm, or Warren's Farm, 
as it was then known, was owned by Lady Margaret, it became part of the endowment granted to 
the college by her executors, and it was at this stage that St. John's became the landowners. The 
original hospital already owned land at Hanley Hill, Great Bradley in 1470, so it was merely 
consolidating, its lands in the area when it inherited East Green in 1511. (It is assumed that the 
land referred to at Hanley Hill is Evergreen Farm, purchased from the College in 1945 by the 
Vestey estate, thus accounting for the two cottages at the bottom of the hill being marked "St. 
John's College"). 

In 1737, according to a Terrier of the farm made upon renewal of the lease to the "Honble James 
Vernon", the acreage of East Green farm was 402 acres but, in addition, there was "land in Great 
Bradley aforesaid which belong to the said Farme and are Lett apart from It to the Reverend Mr. 
Nash containing in the whole about Forty Acres". Today, the farm, which has more recently 
become known as College Farm, has 470 acres. 

From the same Terrier, we learn that, "The Dwelling House, Barns, Stables and Outhouses are all 
in good and Substantial Repair being lately made so by the said Mr. Vernon since He tooke the 
Lease from Mr. Coredale Firebrass. Except the Brewhouse which must be Rebuilt". 

It is possible to trace more details of the farmstead, crops and tenants from the sixteenth to the 
nineteenth centuries from surveys and terriers held by St. John's College Archivist's Office, but it 
is felt that that this subject could be further explored on another occasion. 

The present tenancy began under the following unusual circumstances. The grandfather of the 
present tenant, Mr. W. Cowans, became tenant of the farm in 1931, when he moved to Great 
Bradley from Northumberland, where he was a hill farmer, grocer, and owner of a small mill. He 
became tenant almost by accident; for he was visiting friends in Norfolk at the time and from there 
was asked to accompany a friend who was himself interested in renting the farm at East Green. 
Upon seeing the property, Mr. Cowans decided he would like to take it over. The decision having 
been made, he promptly moved his total stock, including a flock of 500 ewes, implements, and 
personal possessions, on a specially chartered train, which finally arrived at Dullingham station. 
From there, the stock were driven by road to College Farm. The total removal was such an 
unusual event that it was reported by many national newspapers at the time. The tenancy of the 
farm has remained in the Cowans family for three generations. 
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Water supply on the farm had always been a problem until that time. Although six ponds had 
been dug in separate fields, Mr. Cowans did not consider these sufficient for his stock and, under 
the tenancy agreement, he persuaded the College to accept responsibility for solving the 
problem. Holes were bored to a depth of 300 feet and water was eventually piped to the surface 
and stored in huge tanks, which could still be seen on the farm until a few years ago. Of the six 
original ponds, only two remain. 

In those early days, there were as many as 250 head of cattle, including 100 cows, on the farm, 
tended by seven men. The farm was self-sufficient in that it grew all its own animal feed. During 
the second world was, much of the grazing land was ploughed and turned over to arable farming, 
although cattle are still kept at College Farm. The front of the house dates from 1860, but the 
earlier rear part dates from about 1760 and consisted of three storeys until 1967, when the third 
storey was removed. The house is large, with well- proportioned rooms and a very elegant 
stairacse. The addition of the front half resulted in some of the rooms being on different levels, 
thus adding to the interest of the property. 

The population of East Green remains something of a mystery. We know that in 1733 the number 
of souls living there was one-third of the total population of the whole village. Is it possible that 
East Green was the original village as opposed to the area of the village as we know it today 
being the main part? It is remembered there were three more cottages along the lane past 
Pettett's Farm, two on Horse Pasture Farm (across the fields behind College farm- house), two or 
three on the triangle of ground opposite Wychwood (formerly the Three Tuns pub), and six or 
seven more along the road towards Cowlinge. There are also indications that other houses 
existed alongside the Three Tuns and opposite the drive to College Farm. Most of the footpaths 
in the village are in the area of the church, the river and East Green, and it must be remembered 
that footpaths did not exist purely for pleasant walks in those days, but as a convenient short cut 
in order to reach a desired destination. When one remembers that St. John's College and the lord 
of the manor of Great Bradley were the two largest land-owners of the village, it is not difficult to 
imagine that the agricultural workers' cottages would not be too far removed from the farmsteads. 

It is known that East Green used to have its own brass band, another fact supporting the theory 
that this area was populated by a much more thriving community than the acknowledged village 
area of today. 
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FILEDS AND A R E A S SPECIF IED IN THE TITHE MAP DATED 1842 

Derrid Wood 
Fennells Wood 
*Buckles Ley 
Paxmans Meadow 
First Waterfield 
Grove Field Bottom 
The Shalms *Paxmans 
Pightle 
Upper Up ton 
Small Breed 
Great Breed 
Occupation Road 
Calves Pightle 
Hobs Croft 
Great Brackett field 
Little Brackett field / 
Sipsey Mead 
Chitlocks 
Nut Tree'close 
*Slough pasture 
Maynards close 
Earls pit field Long Acre 

'Trefoil field 
Upper Beyseys 
Shadrans 
Hunts Hall field 
Upper Hunts field 
Lower Hunts field 
Burnt House field 
Tobbels field 
Park Wood and Short Ridges 
Spong 
Rushfield 
Handy Bar Grove 
*Wadgells 
Great Hartwood field 
Tunneys field 
Hindsley and Loose Ley 
*Eyles Ley 
Fennells Meadow & Hartwell 
* Lammas Meadow 
Great Sandpit including pit 
Little Sandpit 
Camping Close 

Long Acre, colloquially referred to as 
'Lanacre' 

Ley Land temporarily under grass 

Lammas 1 s t of August. Formerly the Harvest Festival 

Trefoil Probably clover 

Slough Quagmire 

Pightle Small field or encloseure, a close or croft 

Eyles Possibly land where barley was once grown 

Wadgells Possibly derived from 'wadge* or 'wodge' - a 
lumpy mass 
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